brought to you by CORE



# **Differential Inclusions and Target Problems**

H

HH

H H H

No. of Lot of Lo

11M

Quincampoix, M.

**IIASA Working Paper** 

WP-90-044

August 1990

Quincampoix, M. (1990) Differential Inclusions and Target Problems. IIASA Working Paper. WP-90-044 Copyright © 1990 by the author(s). http://pure.iiasa.ac.at/3410/

Working Papers on work of the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis receive only limited review. Views or opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the Institute, its National Member Organizations, or other organizations supporting the work. All rights reserved. Permission to make digital or hard copies of all or part of this work for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage. All copies must bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. For other purposes, to republish, to post on servers or to redistribute to lists, permission must be sought by contacting repository@iiasa.ac.at

# **Working Paper**

# Differential Inclusions and Target Problems

Marc Quincampoix

WP-90-44 August 1990

International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis 🗆 A-2361 Laxenburg 🗳 Austria



Telephone: (0 22 36) 715 21 \* 0 🗖 Telex: 079 137 iiasa a 🗖 Telefax: (0 22 36) 71313

# Differential Inclusions and Target Problems

Marc Quincampoix

WP-90-44 August 1990

Working Papers are interim reports on work of the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis and have received only limited review. Views or opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent those of the Institute or of its National Member Organizations.





Telephone: (0 22 36) 715 21 \* 0 🗖 Telex: 079 137 iiasa a 🗖 Telefax: (0 22 36) 71313

# Differential inclusions and target problems

Marc Quincampoix CEREMADE, Université Paris-Dauphine Place du Maréchal de Lattre de Tassigny 75775 Paris cedex 16

August 24, 1990

### FOREWORD

The author studies where and how solutions associated to a differential inclusion can or cannot enter a given target. For this purpose, he associates partitions of the target boundary with the dynamics of the system.

He qualitatively describes the behaviour of these solutions in terms of viability and invariance kernels of sets. These kernels determine points such that there exist (respectively all) solutions starting at these point remain in a given set of constraints.

He also studies the sets which are reached in finite time by viable solutions to the system.

Finally, he provides some applications to control systems with one target and he generalizes the concept of semipermeable barrier.

> Alexander B. Kurzhanski Chairman System and Decision Science Program

# Contents

1	Introduction	1	
2	The target boundary and the dynamics	4	
	2.1 A geometrical result	5	
	2.2 First partition of the target boundary	6	
	2.3 Second partition of the target boundary	7	
	2.4 Proofs	9	
3	Boundaries of invariant and viability kernels		
4	Backward trajectories for a differential inclusion		
5	An application to control systems with one target: sem		
	permeable barriers.	16	
	5.1 Certain and possible victory and defeat domains	16	
	5.2 Semi permeable barrier	17	

# Differential inclusions and target problems

Marc Quincampoix

### **1** Introduction

We consider an open set C and a system whose evolution is described by the following differential inclusion<sup>1</sup>:

$$x'(t) \in F(x(t))$$

We assume, throughout this paper, that the set valued map F has nonempty values<sup>2</sup>.

A first question is:

On what part of the boundary can the state of the system reach the target C?

For that purpose, we define three areas  $C^{e}$ ,  $C^{b}$ ,  $C^{i}$  of  $\partial C$  such that:

- no solution can enter C crossing  $C^e$
- if a solution enters C, then this solution crosses  $C^i$
- if a solution remains in  $\partial C$ , then this solution belongs to  $C^b$ .

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{x}'(t) = f(\mathbf{x}(t), \mathbf{u}(t)) \\ \mathbf{u}(t) \in U(\mathbf{x}(t)) \end{cases}$$

through a differential inclusion, by setting: F(x) := f(x, U(x)).

<sup>2</sup>If it is not the case, we can study the differential inclusion in the interior of the domain of F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This allows to incorporate a lack of exact knowledge of dynamics or to represent a control system with state-dependent control map U(x):

For answering the above question, we prove a new result about the tangent cone to an intersection. Thanks to this, the three sets  $C^e$ ,  $C^b$ ,  $C^i$  form a partition of the boundary of C.

Another question is: From what initial conditions can the system reach C?

Let us consider a differential inclusion with constraints:

(1) 
$$x'(t) \in F(x(t)), \quad x(t) \in K$$

where K is a given closed set (we shall use  $K := X \setminus C$ ).

We need some definitions and properties concerning differential inclusions with constraints (see [5], [6]):

We shall say that a solution  $x(\cdot)$  of the differential inclusion (1) is viable in K if and only if:

$$\forall t \geq 0, x(t) \in K$$

The solution  $x(\cdot)$  is *locally viable* in K if and only if:

$$\exists T > 0$$
, such that  $\forall t \leq T, x(t) \in K$ 

A set K has the viability property if and only if for any point  $x_0$  of K, there exists at least one solution to (1) starting at this point which is viable in K.

A set K has the *invariance property* if and only if for any point  $x_0$  of K, all solutions to (1) starting at this point are viable in K.

A closed set K is a viability domain if and only if:

$$\forall x \in K, \ F(x) \cap T_K(x) \neq \emptyset$$

The set K is an invariance domain if and only if:

$$\forall x \in K, F(x) \subset T_K(x)$$

where  $T_K(x)$  denotes the contingent cone<sup>3</sup> to K at x.

<sup>3</sup>Recall that:

$$T_K(x) := \{ v \in X \mid \liminf_{h \to 0^+} d(x + hv, K)/h = 0 \}.$$

If K is closed, if F is an upper semi-continuous<sup>4</sup> set-valued map with nonempty closed convex compact values and linear growth<sup>5</sup>, then, thanks to Haddad's viability theorem (see [15], [5]), K is a viability domain if and only if the viability property holds for K.

When K is not a viability domain, the question arises to find closed subsets in which it is possible to solve (1) in K. With these assumptions it is possible to define the *viability kernel*:

**Definition 1.1** The viability kernel of a closed set K is the largest closed viability domain contained in K.

We have some examples of computation of viability kernels in [7] and [14].

In a similar way, thanks to the invariance theorem (see [5]), if K is closed and if F is lipschitzean<sup>6</sup> with compact convex values and linear growth, then K is an invariance domain if and only if the invariance property holds for K.

Under these assumptions it is possible to define (see [5]) the *invariance* kernel:

**Definition 1.2** The invariance kernel of a closed set K is the largest closed invariance domain contained in K.

In this paper, we prove some properties of the boundaries of viability and invariance kernels. In fact, under adequate assumptions, the boundaries of  $Viab_F(K)$  and  $Inv_F(K)$  are viability domains.

<sup>4</sup>Let us recall that a set valued map F is upper semi continuous at  $x_0$  if and only if:

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \alpha > 0, F(x_0 + \alpha B) \subset F(x_0) + \varepsilon B$$

<sup>5</sup>We say that a map F has a linear growth if there exists c > 0 such that:

$$\forall x \in X, F(x) \subset c(1 + ||x||)B$$

<sup>6</sup>Let us recall (see [5]), [6] that a set valued F is lipschitzean if and only if there exists a positive real k such that:

$$\forall (\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in X \times X, \ F(\mathbf{x}) \subset F(\mathbf{y}) + \mathbf{k} ||\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|| B.$$

We shall also try to answer another question: is it possible to find a solution to the differential inclusion with constraints which reaches a given point? To investigate this question, we shall introduce and study kernels for -F which yields backward trajectories.

In the last section, results concerning the boundaries of the kernels of a differential inclusion will be used to study the following control system with one target C:

$$x'(t) = f(x(t), u(t)) \quad u(t) \in U(x(t))$$

We shall generalize the concept of semi permeable barrier (introduced by Isaacs in [17] for differential games). Recall that a barrier allows to separe the areas from which it is possible to reach C and the areas from which it is not possible. (see also [10], [9], [11]). Recall that a  $C^1$ -surface is semi permeable when it is satisfying an equation such that:  $\max_u f(x, u).n \leq 0$ or  $\min_u f(x, u).n \geq 0$  (where n is the normal vector of the surface). It means that the solutions of (4) are able to cross the surface in "only one direction". In fact, we prove that the solutions of a control system can cross the boundaries of viability and invariance kernels only from the exterior of the kernel to the interior the kernel. In this sense the boundaries of invariance and viability kernels are semi permeable.

I am indebted to Halina Frankowska for her help and advice.

#### 2 The target boundary and the dynamics

We study a system whose dynamics are described by the differential inclusion:

$$(2) x'(t) \in F(x(t))$$

where F is the set valued map, whose values are nonempty convex and compact, from a finite dimensional vector space X into itself. We also consider a set C (the target) which is open nonempty and different from X.

Let us define two closed sets  $K := X \setminus C$  and  $\overline{K} := \overline{X \setminus K} = \overline{C}$ . The Haddad's viability theorem [15] provides conditions such that the state never reaches C. Here we study how it is possible to reach C.

We first state our results; their proofs will be given in section 2.4.

#### 2.1 A geometrical result

We need a result concerning the contingent cone to an intersection of two closed sets.

**Definition 2.1** Let K be a closed set. The Dubovitsky-Milliutin tangent cone is defined by:

$$D_K(x) := \{ v \in X \mid \exists \alpha > 0 \ x+]0, \alpha](v+\alpha B) \subset K \}$$

or equivalently:  $D_K(x) = X \setminus T_{\overline{X \setminus K}}(x)$ .

**Theorem 2.2** Let  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  be two closed sets of X a normed vector vector space. Then, for any x:

$$T_{K_1}(x) \cap T_{K_2}(x) \cap D_{K_1 \cup K_2}(x) \subset T_{K_1 \cap K_2}(x)$$

This result allows to characterize the intersection of contingent cones, without assumptions on the regularity of these cones<sup>7</sup>.

**Corollary 2.3** Let  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  be two closed sets of x. If  $x \in K_1 \cap K_2 \cap Int(K_1 \cup K_2)$ , then

$$T_{K_1}(x) \cap T_{K_2}(x) = T_{K_1 \cap K_2}(x).$$

We recall that the same conclusion can be obtained if X is a finite dimensional vector space, when we assume the following transversality condition:

$$C_{K_1}(x) - C_{K_2}(x) = X$$

where  $C_K(x)$  denotes the Clarke's cone<sup>8</sup> to K at x.

**Remark** — These two results allow to express the contingent cone to an intersection in different cases:

<sup>8</sup>Recall the definition of the Clarke's tangent cone (see for instance [6] chapter 4):

$$C_{K}(x) = \{ v \mid \liminf_{h \to 0^{+}, y \to x, y \in K} d(y + hv, K)/h = 0 \}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>It is a pleasure for me to thank Halina Frankowska who suggested to improve corollary 2.3 into theorem 2.2 by using Dubovitsky-Milliutin tangent cones.

In  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we can compute the tangent cone at (0,0) to the intersection of

$$K_1 := \{ (x, y) \mid x \leq 0 \} \text{ and } K_2 := \{ (x, y) \mid x \geq 0 \}$$

thanks to Corollary 2.3, but not from the transversality condition. It is the contrary in the case of

 $K_1 := \{ (x, y) \mid x = y \}$  and  $K_2 := \{ (x, y) \mid x = -y \}$ 

We can deduce the very useful corollary:

Corollary 2.4 Let x belong to X.

$$T_K(x) \cap T_{\hat{K}}(x) = T_{\partial K}(x)$$

and

$$D_K(x) = T_K(x) \setminus T_{\partial K}(x).$$

This Corollary was be used in the study of the qualitative behaviour of replicator systems in the simplex (see [12]), or to study the fluctuations of solutions around the boundary of a given set (see [18]). Corollary 2.3 can be generalized to compute the contingent cone to an intersection of a finite number of closed sets:

**Corollary 2.5** Let  $K_1, K_2, \ldots, K_p$  be p closed subsets of a metric vector space X and let x belong to  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{i=p} K_i$ . If there exists an open set  $\mathcal{O}$  which contains x such that:

$$\forall j \leq p, \ \mathcal{O} \subset K_j \cup (\bigcap_{i=1}^{i=j-1} K_i)$$

then

$$T_{\bigcap_{i=1}^{p} K_{i}}(x) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{p} T_{K_{i}}(x)$$

#### 2.2 First partition of the target boundary

Let us introduce three subsets of the boundary which are depending on the dynamic of the system.

$$\begin{cases} K^{i} := \{ x \in \partial K \mid F(x) \subset D_{K}(x) \} \\ K^{e} := \{ x \in \partial K \mid F(x) \subset X \setminus T_{K}(x) \} \\ K^{b} := \{ x \in \partial K \mid F(x) \cap T_{\partial K}(x) \neq \emptyset \} \end{cases}$$

**Proposition 2.6** If  $F : X \mapsto X$  is an upper semi continuous set valued map with nonempty convex compact values, if K is closed nonempty then,  $(K^e, K^i, K^b)$  form a partition of the boundary  $\partial K$  (in the sense that  $\partial K = K^i \cup K^b \cup K^e$  and these three sets are disjoint).

If  $x_0$  belongs to  $K^i$ , then all solutions starting at  $x_0$  enter Int(K) and stay in the interior on time interval ]0, T[ (with T > 0).

If  $x_0$  belongs to  $K^e$ , then all solutions starting at  $x_0$  enter  $Int(X \setminus K)$  and stay outside K on ]0, T[ (with T > 0).

If  $x_0$  belongs<sup>9</sup> to  $\operatorname{Int}_{\partial K} K^b$ , then there exists a solution starting at  $x_0$  which stays on the boundary  $\partial K$  on ]0, T[ (with T > 0).

**Remark** — We can notice that, when  $\partial K$  is a  $C^1$  surface, the subset  $K^b \cup K^i$  is often called the *boundary usable part* and  $K^e$  the *boundary non usable part*.  $\Box$ 

For a set A, we set  $\widehat{A} := \overline{X \setminus A}$  and we denote by  $\operatorname{Int}(A)$  its interior. We can introduce the same type of partition for the closed set  $\overline{C} = \widehat{K}$ , i.e., the three sets  $\overline{C}^i = \widehat{K}^i$ ,  $\overline{C}^b = \widehat{K}^b$ ,  $\overline{C}^e = \widehat{K}^e$  which form a partition of  $\partial \widehat{K}$ . A natural question arises: how can we compare  $\widehat{K}^i$ ,  $\widehat{K}^b$ ,  $\widehat{K}^e$  and  $(K^e, K^i, K^b)$ ?

**Proposition 2.7** Let K be a closed set and F a set valued map with nonempty convex values.

 $K^i = \widehat{K}^e, \ K^e \subset \widehat{K}^i, \ K^b \subset \widehat{K}^b$ 

Equalities hold true if and only if  $\overline{\operatorname{Int}(K)} = K$ .

The first statement and the inclusions are obvious. If the equalities  $K^e = \widehat{K}^i$ ,  $K^b = \widehat{K}^b$  hold, then necessarily  $\partial K = \partial \widehat{K}$  i.e.  $\overline{\operatorname{Int}(K)} = K$ . It is easy to show that this condition is sufficient (in this case  $\widehat{\widehat{K}} = K$ ).

We can improve this partition to have a more precise one.

#### 2.3 Second partition of the target boundary

Let us consider the following differential inclusion:

$$y'(t) \in -F(y(t))$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Here, we denote by  $\operatorname{Int}_{\partial K} K^{\flat}$  the interior of  $K^{\flat}$  in the space  $\partial K$ .

We can regard the solutions of (3) as solutions of (1) but in the reverse direction (i.e. if  $x(\cdot)$  is a solution of (1) on [0,T], then y(t) := x(T-t) is solution of (3) on [0,T]). In this way, we get the backward trajectories of (1).

We introduce the subsets:

$$\begin{cases} K^{i-} := \{ x \in \partial K / -F(x) \subset D_K(x) \} \\ K^{e-} := \{ x \in \partial K / -F(x) \subset X \setminus T_K(x) \} \\ K^{b-} := \{ x \in \partial K / -F(x) \cap T_{\partial K}(x) \neq \emptyset \} \end{cases}$$

These three sets also form a partition of  $\partial K$ . Consequently, these two partitions yield a new partition of the boundary made of nine subsets.

We can describe the qualitative behaviour of solution, as in the previous section, in the following proposition in which we shall denote by  $Int(K^b)$  the interior of  $K^b$  in the space  $\partial K$ .

**Proposition 2.8** Let K be a closed nonempty set.

$x_0$ is an element of	Properties of solutions which start at $x_0$
$K^i \cap \overline{K^{i-}}$	all solutions enter K at $x_0$
	no solution come from the exterior of K
$K^i \cap K^{e-}$	all solutions enter K at $x_0$
	no solution come from the interior of K
$\overline{K^i} \cap \operatorname{Int}(K^{b-})$	all solutions enter K at $x_0$
	there exists at least one trajectory locally viable on
	the boundary which come into $Int(K)$ at $x_0$
$K^e \cap K^{e-}$	all solutions go outside K
	no solution come from the interior of K
$K^e \cap K^{i-}$	all solutions go outside K
	no solution come from the exterior of K
$K^e \cap \operatorname{Int}(K^{b-})$	all solutions go outside K
	there exists at least one solution locally viable on
	the boundary which comes into $Int(K)$ at $x_0$
$\operatorname{Int}(\overline{K^b}) \cap \operatorname{Int}(\overline{K^{b-}})$	there exists a solution passing through $x_0$
	$(i.e. \exists \tau > 0, x(\tau) = x_0)$
	and locally viable (for $F$ and $-F$ ) on the boundary
$\operatorname{Int}(K^b) \cap K^{i-}$	no solution come from the exterior of K
	there exists a solution locally viable on $\partial K$
	which comes from the interior of K
$\operatorname{Int}(K^b) \cap K^{e-}$	no solution come from the interior of K
	there exists a solution locally viable on $\partial K$
	which comes from the exterior of K

#### 2.4 Proofs

**Proof of theorem 2.2** — Let v be in  $T_{K_1}(x) \cap T_{K_2}(x) \cap D_{K_1 \cup K_2}(x)$ . According to the definitions of these sets, there exist sequences  $h_n^1$ ,  $h_n^2$  of nonnegative reals converging to 0, sequences  $v_n^1$ ,  $v_n^2$  converging to v and a real  $\alpha$  such that:

$$\begin{cases} \forall n \quad x+h_n^1v_n^1 \in K_1, \quad x+h_n^2v_n^2 \in K_2 \\ x+]0, \alpha](v+\alpha B) \subset K_1 \cup K_2 \end{cases}$$

Clearly there exists N such that:

$$\forall n > N, x + h_n^i v_n^i \in x + [0, \alpha[(v + \alpha B) \text{ for } i = 1, 2]$$

Since for all n > N, the two points  $x + h_n^1 v_n^1$  and  $x + h_n^2 v_n^2$  belong to the convex set  $x + [0, \alpha](x + \alpha B)$ ,

$$[x + h_n^1 v_n^1, x + h_n^2 v_n^2] \subset x + [0, \alpha](x + \alpha B) \subset K_1 \cup K_2$$

On the other hand:

$$([x+h_n^1v_n^1, x+h_n^2v_n^2]\cap K_1)\cup([x+h_n^1v_n^1, x+h_n^2v_n^2]\cap K_2) = [x+h_n^1v_n^1, x+h_n^2v_n^2]$$

We cannot form a partition of a connected set made of two nonempty closed sets. Hence the intersection of the two closed sets in the left-hand side of the above equality is nonempty. Consequently, there exists  $\lambda_n$  in [0, 1] such that:

$$\lambda_n(x + h_n^1 v_n^1) + (1 - \lambda_n)(x + h_n^2 v_n^2) \in K_1 \cap K_2$$

(if one of these sets is empty, we obtain the same conclusion by setting  $\lambda_n := 0$  or 1). By setting:

$$\begin{cases} h_n := \lambda_n h_n^1 + (1 - \lambda_n) h_n^2 \\ v_n := (\lambda_n h_n^1 v_n^1 + (1 - \lambda_n) h_n^2 v_n^2) / h_n \end{cases}$$

We see that  $v_n \longrightarrow v$ ,  $h_n \longrightarrow 0$  and  $x_n + h_n v_n \in K_1 \cap K_2$ . The proof is completed.  $\Box$ 

Corollaries 2.3 and 2.4 are obvious consequences of theorem 2.2 if we notice that:

- $D_{K_1 \cup K_2}(x) = X$  by assumption of Corollary 2.3
- $T_{K_1 \cap K_2}(x) \subset T_{K_1}(x) \cap T_{K_2}(x)$
- $D_{K\cup\hat{K}}(x) = X$  trivially.

**Proof of corollary 2.5** — Thanks to corollary 2.3, we have:

$$T_{K_p}(x) \cap T_{\bigcap_{i=1}^{i=p-1} K_i}(x) = T_{\bigcap_{i=1}^p K_i}(x)$$

But we have (with the assumption in the case j = p - 1):

$$\mathcal{O} \subset (K_{p-1}) \cup (\bigcap_{i=1}^{i=p-2} K_i)$$

Hence according to corollary 2.3:

$$T_{K_{p-1}}(x) \cap T_{\bigcap_{i=1}^{i=p-2} K_i}(x) = T_{\bigcap_{i=1}^{p-1} K_i}(x)$$

An obvious induction argument allows to complete the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of proposition 2.6** — Thanks to corollary 2.4, we can divide the space X into three sets  $D_K(x)$ ,  $T_{\partial K}(x)$ ,  $X \setminus T_K(x)$ . That provides the partition of the boundary. In fact, we observe that  $K^i \cap K^e = \emptyset$  and if  $F(x) \cap T_K(x) \neq \emptyset$  and  $F(x) \cap T_{\hat{K}}(x) \neq \emptyset$ , then using that values of F are connected, we deduce that  $x \in K^b$ . Now, is easy to characterize each area (see [5]).  $\Box$ 

### **3** Boundaries of invariant and viability kernels

In this section, X denotes a finite dimensional vector space. Our purpose is to describe the boundary of the set of initial conditions of (1) from which it is possible to reach the target C. This set is the complement of the viability kernel of  $K = X \setminus C$  associated with (1). We shall, now, characterize the boundary of these two kernels:

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $F : X \mapsto X$  be a lipchitzean set valued map with nonempty convex compact values and with linear growth, and K be a closed nonempty set.

If  $x_0$  belongs to  $\partial \operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \setminus \partial K$ , then there exists a solution viable in K, starting at  $x_0$  which stays in the boundary of  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$  as long as it does not cross  $\partial K$ . Furthermore, every viable solution starting at  $x_0$  has the same behaviour.

**Proof** — We prove that there exists a viable solution starting at  $x_0$  which stays on the boundary of the viability kernel until it reaches  $\partial K$ .

In fact, let be  $x(\cdot)$  a viable solution starting at  $x_0$  which enters the interior of  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$  (i.e.  $\exists T > 0$  such that  $x(T) \in \operatorname{Int}(\operatorname{Viab}_F(K))$  and  $x([0,T]) \subset$  $\operatorname{Int}(K) \cap \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ . According to Filippov's Theorem<sup>10</sup>, there exists l > 0

$$d_{W^{1,1}(0,T)}(y, S_T(x_0)) \leq l ||x_0 - y_0||$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>If F is lipchitzean with nonempty values,  $y(\cdot) \in S_T(y_0)$  (set of solutions of (1) starting at  $y_0$ ). There exists l > 0 such that:

such that, for all y in K, there exists a solution  $y(\cdot)$  starting at  $y_0$  such that:

$$\forall t \leq T, y(t) \in x(t) + l \|y_0 - x_0\|B$$

Hence, it is possible to find  $\alpha > 0$  such that, for all  $y_0$  in  $(x_0 + \alpha B) \setminus \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ , we have  $y([0,T]) \subset K$  and  $y(T) \in \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ . But there exists a viable solution  $\tilde{y}(\cdot)$  starting at  $y(T) \in \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ ).

Let us define a new trajectory  $\bar{y}(\cdot)$ :

$$ar{y}(s) := egin{cases} y(s) & ext{if} \quad s \leq T \ ilde{y}(s) & ext{if} \quad s \geq T \end{cases}$$

Then  $\bar{y}(\cdot)$  is a solution to (1) viable in K. We have shown that  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \cup \{ \bar{y}(t), t \geq 0 \}$  (which contains strictly  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ ) is a viability domain; this is a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.2** If assumptions of theorem 3.1 hold true and if  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K)$ , then  $\partial \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$  is a viability domain and the set  $\overline{X} \setminus \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$  is an invariance domain

**Proof** — If we notice that  $\partial \text{Viab}_F(K) \cap \partial K = \emptyset$  then, thanks to the theorem 3.1,  $\partial \text{Viab}_F(K)$  is a viability domain. Let consider a solution  $x(\cdot)$  starting at  $x_0 \in \overline{X \setminus \text{Viab}_F(K)}$ , if a solution reaches  $\partial \text{Viab}_F(K)$ , thanks to theorem 3.1, it can not enter in the interior of the viability kernel.  $\Box$ 

**Remark and example** — If  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K)$ , the sets  $\partial \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ and  $\partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  are viability domains; but generally, they are not invariance domains. We can notice that in the following simple examples in the two dimensional space  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

We consider a constant set valued map and two closed sets:

$$\begin{cases} F := \{ 1 \} \times [0, 1] \\ K_1 = \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x > 0, \ y \le 1/x \} \cup \mathbb{R}^- \times \mathbb{R} \\ K_2 := \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x > 0, \ y \ge -1/x \} \cup \mathbb{R}^- \times \mathbb{R} \end{cases}$$

Then, it is easy to check that:

(see [6] chapter 10).

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{Viab}_F(K_1) = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^- & \operatorname{Inv}_F(K_1) = \emptyset \\ \operatorname{Inv}_F(K_2) = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \\ \operatorname{Viab}_F(K_2) = \\ \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x \ge 1, \ y \ge -1/x \} \cup \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x \le 1, \ y \ge x - 2 \} \end{cases}$$

Here, the boundaries of  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K_1)$  and  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K_2)$  are viability domains but they are not invariance domains. We can see that all solutions starting at a point of  $\{(x, y) \mid x \leq 1, y = x - 2\}$  stay in this set until they reach the boundary of  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K_2)$  (at (+1, -1)).  $\Box$ 

We are proving now a dual result:

**Proposition 3.3** Let F be a lipchitzean set valued map with nonempty convex compact values, and K a closed compact nonempty set.

If  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K)$ , then the boundary  $\partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  is a viability domain.

**Proof of proposition 3.3** — We shall show a more precise result:  $\overline{X \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)}$  is a viability domain (so that, if  $x_0 \in \partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  there will exist a solution viable in  $\overline{X \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)}$  which necessarily is also viable  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$ , hence it is viable in the boundary). For doing this, it is sufficient to show that there exists a solution starting at any point of  $X \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  which never crosses  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  so that:  $X \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Viab}_F(\overline{X \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)})$ .

Since K is a compact set, there exists a nonnegative number  $\alpha$  such that:  $Inv_F(K) + 2\alpha B \subset Int(K)$ . We shall need the following

**Lemma 3.4** Under the assumptions of proposition 3.3, let  $x(\cdot)$  be a solution to (1) and  $\alpha > 0$ . Then there exists  $\tau > 0$  such that for all  $t \ge t' \ge 0$ :

$$x[t',t] \subset K, ||x(t) - x(t')|| \ge \alpha \implies t - t' \ge \tau$$

**Proof of the Lemma 3.4** — Let us define  $M := \sup_{x \in K} ||F(x)||$  and  $\tau := \alpha/M$ . As K is compact and F lipschitzean with compact values, M is different from infinity<sup>11</sup>. Since  $x(\cdot)$  is absolutely continuous, we have:

 $\alpha \leq ||x(t) - x(t')|| = ||\int_{t'}^t x'(s)ds|| \leq M|t - t'|$ 

Hence  $|t - t'| \ge \tau$  The proof of the Lemma is completed.  $\Box$ 

Let  $x \in K \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$ ; let us build a solution starting at x viable in  $\overline{K \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)}$ . We know that there exists at least one solution  $x(\cdot)$  which goes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>this is even true if we assume that F is upper semi continuous with compact values.

outside K (i.e.  $\exists \tau_1 > 0$ ,  $x(\tau_1) \in X \setminus K$ ). If this solution stays outside  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  then the proof is achieved. Otherwise, there exists a time  $T_1 > \tau_1$  such that  $x(T_1) \in (\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) + \alpha B) \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$ . According to the lemma 3.4, because  $||x(T_1) - x(\tau_1)|| \ge \alpha$ , we have  $|T_1 - \tau_1| \ge \tau$ . But starting at  $x(T_1)$  there exists a solution  $\tilde{x}(\cdot)$  which goes outside  $K (\exists \tau_2, \tilde{x}(\tau_2) \notin K)$ . In a similar way than in the proof of theorem 3.1, we obtain a solution to (1) starting at  $x_0$  (again denoted  $x(\cdot)$ ) such that  $\tilde{x}(\tau_2) = x(T_1 + \tau_2)$ . If this solution stays outside  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$ , then the proof is achieved, otherwise:

 $\exists T_2 > T_1, \ x(T_2) \in (\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) + \alpha B) \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \ \text{with} \ T_2 - T_1 \geq \alpha.$ 

If there is a finite number of  $T_i$  the proof is clearly achieved. If there is an infinite number of  $T_i$  this sequence converges to  $\infty$  because  $T_{n+1} - T_n \ge \alpha$ . We have obtained a solution of (1) viable in  $\overline{X \setminus \text{Inv}_F(K)} \square$ 

When K is not compact but only closed, it is possible to prove a similar result:

**Proposition 3.5** Let K be a closed set and F a set-valued map satisfying the assumptions of proposition 3.3.

If  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K)$ , then  $\overline{X \setminus \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)}$  and  $\partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$  are viability domains.

We then deduce a result which follows from theorem 3.1 and proposition 3.3:

**Corollary 3.6** Let F be a lipchitzean set valued map with nonempty convex compact values, and K a closed compact nonempty set. If  $x_0 \in \partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \cap \partial \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ , then all solutions starting at  $x_0$  stay on the boundary of  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ , as long as they do not cross  $\partial K$ .

Furthermore if  $\partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \cap \partial \operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K)$ , it is an invariance domain.

## 4 Backward trajectories for a differential inclusion

In previous sections, we were interested in studying solutions starting at a given point; now, we shall study solutions reaching a given point.

We compare in this section kernels associated to (1) and kernels associated to (3).

Roughly, the concatenation of solutions of (1) and (3) gives us a solution of the differential inclusion on  $] -\infty$ ,  $+\infty$ [.

Let  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$  (respectively  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K)$ ) denote the viability kernel of (3) (respectively the invariance kernel) of K for the set valued map -F. Of course all results concerning boundaries of these sets are still available.

**Proposition 4.1** Let F be a lipschitzean set valued map with nonempty convex compact values and linear growth, and K a closed set.

- The set  $Inv_F(K) \cap Viab_{-F}(K)$  is an invariance domain for F.
- The set  $Inv_{-F}(K) \cap Viab_F(K)$  is an invariance domain for -F.
- The set  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \cap \operatorname{Viab}_{-F}(K)$  is a viability domain for F and -F.
- The set  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \cap \operatorname{Inv}_{-F}(K)$  is a viability domain for F and -F.

**Proof** — To prove this, we use a technique similar<sup>12</sup> to the proof of theorem 3.1. Let us prove, for instance, the first result.

Let  $x_0$  belong to  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \cap \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$  and  $x(\cdot)$  be a solution to (1). Fix T > 0. By setting y(t) := x(T-t)  $(t \in [0,T])$ , we obtain a solution to (3) such that  $y(T) = x_0 \in \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ . Hence, there exists  $\tilde{y}(\cdot)$  a solution to (3) starting at  $x_0$  and viable in K with respect to -F. The concatenation of y([0,T]) and  $\tilde{y}([T,\infty[)$  provides a solution starting at x(T) viable in K (with respect to -F). Hence  $x(T) \in \operatorname{Viab}_{-F}(K)$ ; since T is arbitrary the proof follows.  $\Box$ 

#### **Proposition 4.2** If assumptions of proposition 4.1 hold true, then:

*i*) 
$$\operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K) \implies \operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Inv}_{-F}(K)$$

*ii*)  $\operatorname{Viab}_{-F}(K) \subset \operatorname{Int}(K) \implies \operatorname{Viab}_{-F}(K) \subset \operatorname{Inv}_{F}(K)$ 

$$\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$$
 and  $\operatorname{Inv}_F(K) \subset \operatorname{Viab}_F(K)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Let us recall:

It follows by exactly the same arguments that in the previous proof.

**Remark** — We can now "mix" all these subsets and kernels to prove results of the type:

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \cap \operatorname{Viab}_F(\widehat{K}) \subset K^b \\ \operatorname{Viab}_F(K) \cap \operatorname{Inv}_{-F}(\widehat{K}) \subset K^b \cap \widehat{K}^{i-1} \end{cases}$$

and so on ...  $\Box$ 

# 5 An application to control systems with one target: semi permeable barriers.

A question naturally arises: Why is it useful to study the boundary of viability or invariance kernels? We give an example of controlled system with one target.

#### 5.1 Certain and possible victory and defeat domains

We can modelize the controlled system<sup>13</sup>

(4) 
$$\begin{cases} x'(t) = f(x(t), u(t)) \\ u(t) \in U(x(t)) \end{cases}$$

through the differential inclusion (1) by setting F(x) := f(x, U(x)). We shall assume that F is lipschitzean with convex compact nonempty values<sup>14</sup>.

Our problem is to drive in finite time the state x inside a given open set C starting at a point outside of C. This has a precise mathematical sense by using the viability and invariance kernels of  $K := \overline{X \setminus C}$ . Let us introduce some definition of victory and defeat domains (see[3]).

**Definition 5.1** We define

• the domain of certain defeat by the set  $Inv_F(X \setminus C)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Results of this paper can be easily extended to the non autonomous case i.e.  $\mathbf{x}'(t) = f(t, \mathbf{x}(t), \mathbf{u}(t))$   $u(t) \in U(t, \mathbf{x}(t))$  (see [24])

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>In particular, it is satisfied if f is lipschitzean affine with respect to the control and U is a lipschitzean set valued map with nonempty convex compact values.

- the domain of possible defeat by the set  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(X \setminus C)$
- the domain of certain victory by the set  $\overline{K \setminus \text{Viab}_F(X \setminus C)}$
- the domain of possible victory by the set  $\overline{K \setminus \text{Inv}_F(X \setminus C)}$ .

Let us make more precise the qualitative behaviour of solutions in these domains.

**Proposition 5.2** If  $x_0 \in \text{Inv}_F(X \setminus C)$  then, no solution to (4) starting at  $x_0$ , can reach C (certain defeat).

If  $x_0 \in \operatorname{Viab}_F(X \setminus C)$ , there exist solutions of (4) starting at  $x_0$ , which never reach C (possible defeat)

If  $x_0 \in X \setminus Viab_F(X \setminus C)$  then, all solutions of (4), starting at  $x_0$ , reach C in finite time (certain victory).

If  $x_0 \in K \setminus \text{Inv}_F(X \setminus C)$ , there exist solutions to (4) starting at  $x_0$ , which reach C in finite time (possible victory).

**Proof** — It is the obvious consequence of definitions 1.2 and 1.1.  $\Box$ 

#### 5.2 Semi permeable barrier

We shall define some subsets of the boundaries of these victory and defeat domains.

**Definition 5.3** The barrier is the set:

$$\partial \operatorname{Inv}_F(X \setminus C) \setminus \partial C$$

The strict barrier is the set:

$$\partial \operatorname{Viab}_F(X \setminus C) \setminus \partial C$$

We can notice that the barrier is contained in the intersection of the certain defeat domain an the possible victory domain. The strict barrier is contained in the intersection of the possible defeat domain and the certain victory domain. We can translate the results of section 3 and so we have a qualitative description of the behaviour of solution on the barriers.

**Proposition 5.4** The strict barrier is a local viability domain<sup>15</sup>. Furthermore, all solution starting at any state  $x_0$  of the strict barrier which are viable in  $X \setminus C$ , remain in this set until it reaches  $\overline{C}$  (and there exists such solution).

The barrier is a viability domain<sup>16</sup> as soon as:

$$\overline{C} \cap \operatorname{Viab}_F(X \backslash C) = \emptyset.$$

**Proof** — The first result is a consequence of theorem 3.1, and the second one is a consequence of proposition 3.5.  $\Box$ 

This generalizes the concept of semi-permeable barriers (see [9], [10]). Recall that a  $C^1$ -surface is semi permeable when it is satisfying an equation such that:  $\max_u f(x, u).n \leq 0$  or  $\min_u f(x, u).n \geq 0$  (where n is the normal vector of the surface). It means that the solutions of (4) are able to cross the surface in only one direction. Let us make this idea more precise by using the partition of section 2.

**Definition 5.5** Let A be a closed set. A subset B of  $\partial A$ , is semi permeable for A if and only, for any point  $x_0$  of B, any solution  $x(\cdot)$  starting at  $x_0$  is locally viable in A.

**Remark** — Let us notice that an obvious consequence of this definition is  $B \cap A^e = \emptyset$ .  $\Box$ 

Thanks to proposition 5.4, we can state the following

**Proposition 5.6** The strict barrier is semi permeable for  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(X \setminus C)$ .

In fact, thanks to proposition 5.4, we know that a solution of (4) cannot cross the strict barrier if it comes from the exterior of the viability kernel  $\operatorname{Viab}_F(X \setminus C)$ , but the converse is possible (i.e it could exist solutions coming from the interior of the kernel which cross the strict barrier).

We can notice that, thanks to corollary 3.6, the intersection of the strict barrier and the barrier is a local invariance domain<sup>17</sup> (if it is nonempty).

$$\operatorname{Inv}_F(X \setminus C) \cap \overline{C} = \emptyset.$$

<sup>17</sup>A set K is a local invariance domain if and only if all solutions starting at any point of K are locally viable in K.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>A set K is a local viability domain if and only if, starting at any point of K, there exists at least one solution locally viable in K.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>When we assume that  $X \setminus C$  is compact, according to proposition 3.3, we have the same conclusion if:

#### References

- AUBIN J.-P. & CELLINA A. (1984) DIFFERENTIAL INCLU-SIONS. Springer-Verlag (Grundlehren der Math. Wissenschaften, Vol.264, 1-342)
- [2] AUBIN J.-P. & EKELAND I. (1984) APPLIED NONLINEAR ANALYSIS. Wiley-Interscience
- [3] AUBIN J.-P. (1990) Differential games: a viability approach. SIAM J. of Control and Optimization, 28, 1-27.
- [4] AUBIN J.-P. (1990) A Survey of Viability Theory, SIAM J. on Control and Optimization, Vol. 28, N. 4.
- [5] AUBIN J.-P. VIABILITY THEORY. To appear.
- [6] AUBIN J.-P.& FRANKOWSKA H. (1990) SET-VALUED ANAL-YSIS. Birkhaüser.
- [7] AUBIN J.-P.& FRANKOWSKA H. (to appear) Viability Kernels of control Systems. Proceedings of the conference Nonlinear Synthesis Progress in systems and controls, Birkhaüser.
- [8] BERGE C. (1961) ESPACES TOPOLOGIQUES, FONCTIONS MUL-TIVOQUES. Dunod.
- [9] BERNHARD P.(1976) COMMANDE OPTIMALE, DECENTRALI-SATION, ET JEUX DYNAMIQUES. Dunod.
- [10] BERNHARD P.(1988) Differential games in Systems and control Encyclopedia, Theory Technology Application, M, G. Singh Ed, Pergamon Press.
- [11] BERNHARD P. & LARROUTUROU B. (1989) Etude de la barrière pour un problème de fuite optimale dans le plan. preprint Rapport de recherche INRIA.
- [12] DORDAN O. ANALYSE QUALITATIVE. (1990) Thesis University Paris IX.

- [13] FILIPPOV A. F. (1958) On some problems of optimal control theory. Vestnik Moskowskovo Universiteta, Math. No.2,25-32. (English translation (1962) in SIAM J. of Control, 1, 76-84.
- [14] FRANKOWSKA H. & QUINCAMPOIX M. (to appear) Viability kernels of differential inclusions with constraints: Algorithm and applications.
- [15] HADDAD G. (1981) Monotone trajectories of differential inclusions with memory. Israel J. Maths, 39, 38-100
- [16] GUSEINOV H. G., SUBBOTIN A. I. & USHAKOV V. N. (1985) Derivatives for multivalued mappings with applications to game theoretical problems of control. Problems of Control and Information Theory, Vol.14, 155-167
- [17] ISAACS R. (1965) DIFFERENTIAL GAMES. Wiley, New York.
- [18] KRIVAN V. (to appear) Construction of population growth equations in the presence of viability constraints. Journal of Mathematical Biology.
- [19] KRASOVSKI N. N. (1986) THE CONTROL OF A DYNAMIC SYS-TEM. Nauka, Moscow
- [20] KURZHANSKII A. B. (1977) CONTROL AND OBVERVATION UN-DER CONDITIONS OF UNCERTAINTY. Nauka.
- [21] KURZHANSKII A. B. (1986) On the analytical properties of viability tubes of trajectories of differential systems. Doklady Acad. Nauk SSSR, 287, 1047-1050
- [22] KURZHANSKII A. B. & FILIPPOVA T. F. (1987) On a description of the set of viable trajectories of a differential inclusion. Soviet. Math. Doklady, Vol. 34, No 1.
- [23] QUINCAMPOIX M.(1990) Frontières de domaines d'invariance et de viabilité pour des inclusions différentielles avec contraintes. Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences. Série I. PARIS

- [24] QUINCAMPOIX M.(1990) Playable differential games. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications (to appear)
- [25] TCHOU N. A. (1988) Existence of slow monotone solutions to a differential inclusion. J. Math. Anal. Appl.